STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County

Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHERWIN ALFONZO GREEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000441

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VICTOR R SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
Jun 16 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether Appellant was denied his right to a speedy trial as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution where the thirty-three month delay was caused by the state's intentional delay and where Appellant showed actual prejudice that he suffered due to the state delaying calling his case to trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the May 2013 term, the Kershaw County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for kidnapping, burglary in the first degree, possession of a firearm/ammunition by a person convicted of a violent felon, and possession of a stolen pistol. R.242.

On July 31, 2013, a hearing was held for Appellant's speedy trial motion before the Honorable Deandra G. Benjamin. R. 4. Lir P. Derieg represented Appellant. Id. Brett A. Perry represented the state. Id. The motion for a speedy trial showed that Appellant requested a jury trial as soon as possible and that the delay caused him "extreme hardship." Motion. R. 1. Moreover, Appellant "assert[ed] his innocence in the strongest terms and welcome[d] an opportunity to answer" the charges against him. Id.

Judge Benjamin granted Appellant's speedy trial motion and ordered a status conference held during the next term of court. R. 5, l. 24 – 6, l. 2. No status conference was ever held, and Appellant languished in prison for two years.

On July 24, 2015, a hearing was held for Appellant's motion to dismiss for violation of his right to a speedy trial before the Honorable Robert E. Hood. R. 19. Lir P. Derieg represented Appellant. Id. Joanna McDuffie, Luck Campbell, and Meghan Walker represented the state. Id. Judge Hood filed an order on July 27, 2015 where he found that Appellant never raised his right to a speedy trial. R. 145. Judge Hood then denied Appellant's motion to dismiss. R. 147.

On September 28, 2015, a hearing was held for Appellant's second motion to dismiss for violation of his right to a speedy trial before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. R. 155, ll. 7 – 20; R. 63. Lir P. Derieg represented Appellant. Id. Meghan L. Walker and Kathryn Luck Campbell represented the state. Id. Judge Manning denied Appellant's motion to dismiss, ruling that Rule 4

precluded Appellant from making another motion to dismiss when Judge Hood's prior order denied the motion two months earlier. R. 172, l. 20 – 174, l. 4.

On September 29, 2015, the next day, Appellant pled guilty to kidnapping; burglary in the second degree, nonviolent; and two counts of possession of a stolen pistol. R. 188, l. 23 – 189, l. 7. Judge Manning accepted Appellant's plea as freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently made. R. 201, ll. 8 – 15. Judge Manning sentenced Appellant to twenty years' imprisonment for kidnapping, fifteen years' imprisonment for burglary in the second degree, and five years' imprisonment for both counts of possession of a stolen pistol. R. 201, ll. 8 – 15.

On August 15, 2017, Appellant made a motion to reconsider and a hearing was held before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. R. 216. Lir P. Derieg represented Appellant. Id. Kathryn Luck Campbell, Joanna A. McDuffie, and Meghan L. Walker represented the state. Id. In an order filed on March 7, 2019, Judge Manning again denied Appellant's motion to dismiss for violation of his speedy trial rights. R. 236. Judge Manning granted Appellant's motion to reconsider his sentence and resentenced Appellant to twelve years' imprisonment. Id.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.” U.S. Const. amend. VI. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution provides that “Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. A speedy trial means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay. State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 441, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012) (quoting Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966)).

The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted). The trial court's ruling on a motion for speedy trial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Id. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support. Id. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted). See State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371–72 (2016).

ARGUMENT

Appellant was denied his right to a speedy trial as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution where the thirty-three-month delay was caused by the state's intentional delay and where Appellant showed actual prejudice that he suffered due to the state delaying calling his case to trial.

Relevant Facts

On November 25, 2012, Appellant and his wife got into a verbal altercation in her apartment. R. 193, l. 16 – 194, l. 16. The altercation allegedly turned physical. R. 194, ll. 17 – 21.

When the police arrived, they arrested Appellant. Id. A handgun, allegedly belonging to Appellant, was found in the apartment. Id. Appellant allegedly “pulled” the handgun during the incident. Id.

On July 31, 2013 Appellant made a motion for speedy trial and a hearing was held before the Honorable Deandrea G. Benjamin on July 31, 2013. R. 4; R.28, ll. 7 – 9. Judge Benjamin granted the motion and ordered a scheduling conference be held during the next term of court to determine the earliest time Appellant’s trial could be held. R. 5, l. 24 – 6, l. 19. No scheduling conference was ever held.

Two years later, Appellant’s trial was still pending, and a hearing was held on July 24, 2015, before the Honorable Robert E. Hood to hear Appellant’s motion to dismiss his charges for violation of his right to a speedy trial. R. 19.

At the July 24, 2015 hearing, defense counsel Derieg argued that the thirty-three-month delay of Appellant’s trial violated his right to a speedy trial. R. 22, ll. 17 – 21. He explained that Appellant and another inmate, Vincent Missouri, aided law enforcement by tipping officers off

to a scheme by a third inmate, Nickolas Miller, to have people killed and to escape incarceration. R. 22, l. 22 – 23, l. 15. The state’s purported reason for delaying Appellant’s trial was to testify against Miller. R. 30, ll. 17 – 20. However, defense counsel pointed out that Missouri’s guilty plea hearing was held two months after both he and Appellant aided law enforcement. R. 23, l. 25 – 25, l. 4. In contrast, Appellant was left with his charges hanging over his head for thirty-three months. R. 36, ll. 16 – 17. Defense counsel reasoned that there was no meaningful difference between Appellant’s and Missouri’s case that would warrant such dissimilar treatment. R. 24, ll. 16 – 25.

Defense counsel argued that the dissimilar treatment of Missouri and Appellant showed that the state’s intentional delay of Appellant’s trial was to “gain an impermissible advantage” because they intentionally held Appellant back to prosecute Miller. R. 40, ll. 1 – 19. He furthered that, “the government allowing... Missouri to plead showed there was no reason to delay [Appellant’s] case.” Id.

While Appellant’s suffered an excessive thirty-three-month delay, defense counsel explained that Appellant can show actual prejudice as well. R. 35, l. 21 – 36, l. 15. Due to the excessive delay, Appellant’s witnesses, Roshita McKall and Katrina Lewis could no longer be located to testify to what occurred on the night of the alleged incident, nearly three years earlier. Id.; Memo Supporting Motion to Dismiss, R. 67. In addition, Appellant stated there were tapes of the incident that he recorded from the night of the incident that were no longer available as well. Id.

The state argued that since there was no written order from July 31, 2013 on record with the Kershaw County clerk of court, Appellant’s speedy trial motion during must have never been ruled on. R. 44, l. 25 – 45, l. 12. That was not the case, Appellant’s speedy trial motion was ruled

on during the July 31, 2013 hearing when Judge Benjamin *clearly* stated, “I’ll grant the motion for a speedy trial.” R. 5, l. 24 – 6, l. 2.

The state further argued that the reason for the delay to Appellant’s trial was because the state was unsure if Appellant was going to testify against Miller. R. 46, l. 15 – 47, l. 15. The solicitor also stated that she was unaware of any tapes that Appellant said were missing and stated that Appellant was not prejudiced by the now unavailable witnesses. R. 49, ll. 7 – 12; Memo Supporting Motion to Dismiss, R. 67.

Moreover, the state argued that a letter from Appellant to defense counsel, where Appellant complained that the solicitor was delaying his trial, was a concession from Appellant that he “agreed” to wait until Miller’s case was resolved. R. 50, ll. 8 – 23. Nothing in that letter indicated that Appellant waived his right to a speedy trial. That letter was Appellant asserting the state’s wrongful delay of his trial. Appellant never waived his right to a speedy trial, nor did any of the judges at Appellant’s multiple hearings ever find that Appellant waived his right to a speedy trial.

In an order filed on July 29, 2015, Judge Hood denied Appellant’s motion to dismiss his charges for violation of his right to a speedy trial. R. 145. Judge Hood found that Appellant’s right to a speedy trial was not violated because the state, “attempted to call the case... [and] at that time it was defense counsel who delayed proceedings further,” by making a motion for a continuance. R. 146.

Judge Hood also found that Appellant’s motion for a speedy trial was never ruled on, despite the fact that Judge Benjamin granted the motion on the record during the July 31, 2013 hearing. *Id.*; R. 5, l. 24 – 6, l. 2. This finding was erroneous and later Judge Manning would rely on this erroneous finding to deny Appellant’s motion to dismiss on September 28 – 29, 2015. R.

172, l. 20 – 174, l. 4. Judge Hood also determined that Appellant did not present evidence on how the length of the delay contributed to his inability to procure the missing witnesses. R. 147.

On September 28 – 29, 2015, now after a thirty-five-month delay, Appellant reasserted his right to a speedy trial and another hearing was held for his motion to dismiss his charges for violation of his right to a speedy trial before the Honorable L Casey Manning. R. 154.

During that hearing, the defense counsel argued that Judge Benjamin did grant the speedy trial motion. R. 156, l. 9 – 157, l. 16; R. 5, l. 3 – 6, l. 2. He explained that a status conference was ordered by Judge Benjamin but delayed at the state’s request. R. 158, ll. 2 – 18. Defense counsel also informed the court that both of the continuances that he requested were not Appellant’s fault and that Appellant had “no control” over them. R. 158, l. 19 – 159, l. 3. The first continuance was because defense counsel had suffered an injury to his knee that required medication “where the doctor said [he] wasn’t allowed to appear in court.”¹ Id. The second was for a phone expert to extract text messages off the complaining witness’ phone. Id. Appellant needed those messages ostensibly to replace the testimony of the witnesses that were no longer available to testify due to the state’s intentional delay of his trial.

The state argued that Appellant’s motion for dismissal for violation of his speedy trial right was a violation of Rule 4 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure because Judge Hood already denied Appellant’s motion in a written order from July 27, 2015. R. 172, ll. 5 – 19.

Judge Manning denied Appellant’s motion for dismissal under Rule 4 SCRCrimP because Judge Hood had already denied Appellant’s motion two months earlier. R. 172, l. 20 – 174, l. 4. Since Judge Manning relied on Rule 4, his ruling was based on Judge Hood’s erroneous

¹ Undersigned counsel mistakenly wrote in the Initial Brief of Appellant that plea counsel suffered a “broken leg” that caused him to request a continuance; however, as opposing counsel correctly pointed out in the Initial Brief of Respondent, plea counsel characterized that injury as a “swollen knee” to the plea court. Int. Br. App. p. 8; Int. Br. Res. p. 9; R. 155, ll. 19 – 23.

finding that Appellant's speedy trial motion was never ruled on. R. 5, l. 24 – 6, l. 2. Judge Manning specifically stated, "that's not what Judge Hood said" when he denied Appellant's motion to dismiss because Rule 4 controlled the disposition of the motion. Id.

Discussion

An accused is entitled to a speedy trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and under Article 1, Section 14, of the Constitution of South Carolina. See Klopfer v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213 (1967); see also State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 240 S.E.2d 651 (1978). "This right 'is designed to minimize the possibility of lengthy incarceration prior to trial, to reduce the lesser, but nevertheless substantial, impairment of liberty imposed on an accused while released on bail, and to shorten the disruption of life caused by arrest and the presence of unresolved criminal charges.'" Id. (quoting United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 8 (1982)). Notably, "[w]hether or not a person accused of a crime has been denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial is a question to be answered in the light of the circumstances of each case." State v. Dukes, 256 S.C. 218, 222, 182 S.E.2d 286, 288 (1971) (quoting Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966)).

As an initial matter, Appellant's guilty plea did not waive his right to appeal the violation of his speedy trial rights. In State v. Sims, 423 S.C. 397, 401, 814 S.E.2d 632, 634 (Ct. App. 2018) this Court held a guilty plea waived immunity under the Protection of People and Property Act. Sims, at 402, 814 S.E.2d at 634. However, in Sims this Court cited Class v. U.S., 138 S.Ct. 798 (2018) for the proposition that, "a criminal defendant who entered an unconditional plea of guilty does not waive his right to challenge the constitutionality of the statute of conviction on direct appeal." Sims, at 401, 814 S.E.2d at 634.

The Sims Court also cited the Second Circuit's analysis in United States v. Curcio, 712 F.2d 1532, 1539 (2d Cir. 1983) where the Second Circuit held that an a defendant who makes an unconditional guilty plea can still appeal his conviction on any ground "that if asserted before trial, would forever preclude the state from obtaining a valid conviction against him." Id.

Under Class v. U.S., the United States Supreme Court determined that a guilty plea does not prohibit an Appellant from challenging the "government's power to criminalize... conduct." Class, at 805. Class was convicted of possession of a firearm on U.S. Capitol grounds. Id. at 802. Class possessed firearms in his locked Jeep parked on United States Capitol grounds. Id. Class pled guilty and was sentenced to twenty-four days' imprisonment and one year of probation. Id.

Class appealed his conviction alleging that he was denied fair notice that weapons were banned in the parking lot on U.S. Capitol grounds and that the statute violated his second amendment right to possess firearms. Id. The Court recognized that a guilty plea barred "antecedent constitutional violations," for example grand jury proceedings. Id. at 803. However, the Court held that where a claim implicates "the very power of the state to prosecute the defendant, a guilty plea *cannot* bar it." Id. (emphasis added) (See Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 21, 30 (1974)). The Court furthered that while guilty pleas can waive "other accompanying constitutional guarantees such as the right to a jury trial or against compulsory self-incrimination, guilty please do not waive, "the privileges which exist beyond the confines of the trial." Class, at 805.

In Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 21 (1974) the United States Supreme Court held that Perry was allowed to proceed on a direct appeal of his guilty plea on the grounds of vindictive prosecution by the state. Blackledge, at 25. The Court determined that Perry's guilty plea did not waive his right to appeal where Perry was appealing the right not to be "haled into court at all...

[since] the very initiation of the proceedings against him... operated to deny him the due process of law.” Id. at 30.

In this case, Appellant is appealing the “very power of the state to prosecute” him. Class, at 803. A defendant’s right to a speedy trial is one that, “exist[s] beyond the confines of [a] trial.” Id. at 805. Moreover, in accordance with the principle in Curcio, Appellant’s guilty plea did not waive his right to challenge the violation of his right to a speedy trial because a defendant’s right to a speedy trial is a constitutional issue “that if asserted before trial, would forever preclude the state from obtaining a valid conviction against him.” Curcio, 712 F.2d at 1539.

Here, if Appellant’s right to a speedy trial was violated by the state’s 33-month delay in calling his case to trial, then his charges must be dismissed. The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (internal citation omitted). Therefore, the state would not have the power to prosecute him. Accordingly, under Class v. U.S., supra, Appellant’s guilty plea did not waive his right to appeal the violation of his right to a speedy trial because that claim is of a class that implicates the “very power” of the state to convict him and cannot be waived via guilty plea. Class, at 803.

Another preliminary matter is that it was an error for the plea court to use SCRCrimP Rule 4 to deny Appellant’s motion to dismiss at the September 28 – 29, 2015 guilty plea hearing. R. 172, 1. 20 – 174, 1. 2. Rule 4 states, “If any motion be made to any judge and be denied, in whole or in part, or be granted conditionally, no subsequent motion *upon the same set of facts* shall be made to any other judge in that action. If upon such subsequent motion any order be made, it shall be void.” SCRCrimP 4. (emphasis added)

A subsequent motion to dismiss for violation of a defendant’s speedy right, by its nature, cannot be based “upon the same set of facts” as the initial motion to dismiss because time has

passed between them. The length of delay is the crux of the speedy trial inquiry. Since the length of delay has increased between the two motions to dismiss, the facts cannot be said to be the same for purposes of Rule 4. Accordingly, Rule 4 is inapplicable in the speedy trial context, and it was an error to deny Appellant's reassertion of his right to a speedy trial.

Notwithstanding the plea court's wrongful use of Rule 4 to deny the September 28 – 29, 2015 motion to dismiss, Appellant's right to a speedy trial was violated under the test put forth by the Supreme Court of the United States in Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972).

In Barker, the United States Supreme Court identified several factors to be used when resolving a speedy trial issue: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason the government asserts to justify the delay; (3) when and how the defendant asserted his right to a speedy trial; and (4) prejudice to the defendant. See State v. Foster, 260 S.C. 511, 197 S.E.2d 280 (1973) (recognizing these factors in South Carolina). However, "[i]n order to establish the denial of a speedy trial, it must be demonstrated the delay was attributable to the State." See Waites, 270 S.C. at 108, 240 S.E.2d at 654 (citation omitted). The constitutional guarantee of a speedy trial only protects a criminal defendant against delay which is arbitrary or unreasonable. Id.

In Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 652, n. 1 (1992), the United States Supreme Court suggested that a delay of more than a year is "presumptively prejudicial." See Waites, 270 S.C. at 108, 240 S.E.2d at 653. The Court has also noted, "[W]e generally have to recognize that excessive delay *presumptively* compromises the reliability of a trial in ways that neither party can prove or, for that matter, identify." Doggett, 505 U.S. at 655 (emphasis added). There is also a presumption that the prejudice to the accused "intensifies over time." Id. at 652. Therefore, "a delay may be so lengthy as to require a finding of presumptive prejudice, and thus trigger the analysis of the other factors." Pittman, 373 S.C. at 549, 647 S.E.2d at 155.

In State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 794 S.E.2d 368 (2016) the South Carolina Supreme Court held that Hunsberger's right to a speedy trial violated by a ten-year delay where the reason for the delay, like Appellant here, was to try to coerce Hunsberger's testimony in a different capital case. Hunsberger, at 352 – 353, 794 S.E.2d at 376 – 377. Hunsberger was arrested in March 2002 and moved for a speedy trial in November 2004. Id. at 342, 794 S.E.2d at 371.

Judge Keesley offered to hold a special February 2005 term of court to allow the state to try Hunsberger then, but the state refused because the state wanted Hunsberger to testify in a capital case against Steven Barnes. Id. at 341, 794 S.E.2d at 371. Hunsberger repeatedly declined to testify against Barnes. Id. Hunsberger's trial was called in January of 2012, where Hunsberger made a motion to dismiss because his state and federal rights to a speedy trial were violated. Id. at 342, 794 S.E.2d at 371.

The South Carolina Supreme Court applied the Barker test to the facts of Hunsberger's case. In spite of the recognition that the ten-year delay was not entirely attributable to the state, the length of the delay was sufficient to trigger the speedy trial analysis. Id. at 344 – 345, 794 S.E.2d at 373. The state was not held responsible for the time period that Hunsberger spent while extradited to Georgia to face separate charges, but the Court determined that the state was responsible for eight years of the delay, which “weigh[ed] heavily against the state.” Id. at 346 – 347, 794 S.E.2d at 373.

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