RECEIVED

Jun 01 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County
Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2019-000441

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

SHERWIN ALFONZO GREEN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

166 (3d Cir. 2007) (“[T]he right to a speedy trial is non-jurisdictional, and is therefore waived by an unconditional and voluntary guilty plea.”); Speed v. United States, 518 F.2d 75, 77 (8th Cir. 1975) (“[I]t is well settled that a plea of guilty waives any claim to denial of a speedy trial.”); Griffin v. State, 604 S.E.2d 155, 156 (Ga. 2004) (“Having voluntarily entered a plea of guilty, appellant cannot raise as a defense his right to a speedy trial.”); Anderson v. State, 577 So. 2d 390, 392 (Miss. 1991) (explaining the “right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin[,]” is waived by entry of a guilty plea and identifying numerous state and federal decisions reaching the same conclusion); Smith v. State, 871 P.2d 186, 188 (Wyo. 1994) (“Constitutional challenges to pretrial proceedings, including speedy trial violations, are non-jurisdictional defenses.”); see also People v. Sanders, 137 Cal. Rptr. 3d 830, 836 (Cal. Ct. App. 2012) (“In criminal proceedings, the essence of a speedy trial issue or a due process claim based on delay is that the passage of time has frustrated the defendant’s ability to defend the allegations against him. The weighing process required to establish a constitutional speedy trial violation necessitates consideration of prejudice to the accused in the particular context of the case. By pleading guilty, a defendant concedes the absence of prejudice, having admitted all matters

which only addressed the narrow question of whether a federal defendant could appeal a conviction due to the alleged unconstitutionality of the statute it was based on, did not establish Appellant’s current claim related to *case-related government conduct* that occurred before he pled guilty could properly be appealed following the entry of a valid guilty plea. See Class, 138 S. Ct. at 803 (“A valid guilty plea . . . renders irrelevant—and thereby prevents the defendant from appealing—the constitutionality of case-related government conduct that takes place before the plea is entered.”). Thus, like the denial of an immunity claim or a claim seeking dismissal for a violation of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act, Appellant’s non-jurisdictional speedy trial claim could be—and was—waived by his choice to plead guilty in a South Carolina state court. Cf. Sims, 423 S.C. at 402, 814 S.E.2d at 634 (“Sims’ statutory immunity claim warrants no exception to the rule against conditional pleas and the key role it plays in ensuring the finality of judgments.”); State v. Tucker, 376 S.C. 412, 418, 656 S.E.2d 403, 406-407 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding Tucker waived any and all claims related to a violation of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act, which would require dismissal if violated, by entering a valid guilty plea).

essential to the conviction. . . . In essence, a defendant who pleads guilty after the court denies a motion to dismiss for a speedy trial violation waives the right to a speedy trial. Thus, a guilty plea forecloses a defendant from asserting on appeal a claimed violation of the constitutional right to a speedy trial.” (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)).

Accordingly, because Appellant waived all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses—including his allegation of a violation of his speedy trial rights—by entering his guilty pleas, the issue of whether the circuit court judges abused their discretion or otherwise erred when ruling on Appellant’s speedy trial dismissal motions cannot appropriately be considered or addressed on appeal. See Whetsell v. State, 276 S.C. 295, 297, 277 S.E.2d 891, 892 (1981) (“[G]uilty pleas, freely and voluntarily entered, act as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses, including the claims of a violation of a constitutional right prior to the plea.”); cf. State v. Rice, 401 S.C. 330, 333, 737 S.E.2d 485, 486 (2013) (holding Rice, who was a juvenile at the time of his offense, could not appeal an order transferring his case from family court to the court of general sessions after entering a guilty plea because such an order was not jurisdictional in nature and, thus, any claimed error Rice wished to appeal “would be a judicial error—not a jurisdictional error”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

B. Propriety of the Circuit Court Judges’ Rulings on the Speedy Trial Issue

Pursuant to both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, an accused in a criminal prosecution has a constitutionally-guaranteed right to a speedy trial. See U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial[.]”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 14 (“Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial[.]”). That right is designed to limit undue pre-trial incarceration, to protect against anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and—most

seriously—to limit the possibility of a lengthy pre-trial delay impairing an accused’s defense. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 532 (1972); see State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 440, 735 S.E.2d 471, 481 (2012) (“The main goals of this right are to prevent undue pretrial incarceration, minimize the anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and limit the possibility of long delays impairing an accused’s defense.”); State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 550, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155-156 (2007) (“[T]he most serious interest to be protected by the guarantee to a speedy trial is the possibility of impairment of the defense.”). Critically though, the criminal trial process is designed to move at a deliberate pace due to the many procedural safeguards involved, and, thus, the essential guarantee provided by the right to a speedy trial is the orderly expedition of a charge as opposed to mere speedy expedition. United States v. Ewell, 383 U.S. 116, 120 (1966); see Beavers v. Haubert, 198 U.S. 77, 87 (1905) (“The right of a speedy trial is necessarily relative. It is consistent with delays and depends upon circumstances. It secures rights to a defendant. It does not preclude the rights of public justice.”).

In order to trigger a speedy trial analysis, a defendant’s trial must have been delayed for a period of time that is presumptively prejudicial, which necessarily depends on the particular circumstances of each case. Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 442. Notably, “a simple prosecution for ordinary street crime may have a lower threshold for a presumptively prejudicial delay than a more complex conspiracy case.” Id. In South Carolina, a delay of over two years has previously been found to be sufficient to trigger a speedy trial analysis. State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978). Likewise, the United States Supreme Court has suggested a delay of roughly one year could—in certain circumstances—be presumptively prejudicial. See Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 652, n.1 (1992) (“Depending on the nature of the charges, the lower courts have generally found postaccusation delay ‘presumptively

prejudicial' at least as it approaches one year.”). However, even where a delay that is presumptively prejudicial exists, a speedy trial determination “is *not based on the passage of a specific period of time*” and delay alone is not singularly dispositive. Pittman, 373 S.C. at 549, 647 S.E.2d at 155 (emphasis added); see State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 75, 480 S.E.2d 64, 70 (1997) (recognizing “delay alone is not dispositive”); see also Ratchford v. State, 785 A.2d 826, 828 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2001) (“Along the delay continuum, the trigger of ‘constitutional dimensions’ is not itself part of the ultimate merits of a speedy trial claim. It simply marks the minimal point, short of which a court will dismiss a claim summarily and will not waste its time even inquiring into such things as reason for delay, demand-waiver, or prejudice. Beyond that minimal or triggering point, however, the claim may not necessarily have merit, but it is worthy at least of thoughtful consideration. The trigger of ‘constitutional dimensions’ is exclusively a procedural phenomenon that justifies a further analysis and then drops out of the picture.”).

Ultimately, once a speedy trial analysis has been triggered, the question of whether a defendant’s right to a speedy trial has been violated is necessarily dependent on the specific circumstances of the defendant’s particular case. State v. Robinson, 335 S.C. 620, 625, 518 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1999). When attempting to answer that question, several factors should be considered. State v. Kennedy, 339 S.C. 243, 249, 528 S.E.2d 700, 703-704 (Ct. App. 2000). Specifically, a court analyzing a speedy trial claim should consider: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant’s assertion of his right; and (4) whether any prejudice was suffered by the defendant as a result of the delay. Barker, 407 U.S. at 530. Notably though, none of the four factors is alone necessary or sufficient for a finding of a speedy trial violation. Id. at 533. Instead, “they are related factors and must be considered together with

such other circumstances as may be relevant.” Id. “In sum, these factors have no talismanic qualities; courts must still engage in a difficult and sensitive balancing process.” Id.

In the case sub judice, a period of roughly thirty-one months elapsed between Appellant’s arrest and Judge Hood’s denial of the first of the speedy trial dismissal motions that were properly filed, and a period of approximately thirty-three months elapsed between Appellant’s arrest and the date he entered his guilty pleas.²¹ Regardless of which period of delays is considered, the delays involved were likely sufficiently lengthy to warrant consideration of the relevant speedy trial factors but were not so unreasonably or unnecessarily long that they alone would warrant the extreme sanction of dismissal. See Brazell, 325 S.C. at 75, 480 S.E.2d at 70 (recognizing delay—although not dispositive—may be sufficient to trigger review of the relevant speedy trial factors); see also United States v. Serna-Villarreal, 352 F.3d 225, 232 (5th Cir. 2003) (instructing courts conducting speedy trial analyses “generally have found presumed prejudice only in cases in which the post-indictment delay lasted at least five years”). Therefore, just as Judge Hood recognized, the length of the delays involved, which was the first of the factors

²¹ Just *six months* after he was arrested, Appellant—while represented by counsel—attempted to file a pro se motion seeking for his case to be dismissed based on an alleged violation of his speedy trial rights. (R. p. 27). Notwithstanding the fact that pro se motion was improper since Appellant was represented by counsel at the time it was filed, it constituted strong evidence Appellant’s true desire was not to obtain a speedy trial in his case and, instead, was to not be tried *at all*. See United States v. Frye, 489 F.3d 201, 211-212 (5th Cir. 2007) (“An assertion of [the] right [to a speedy trial] is a demand for a speedy trial, which will generally be an objection to a continuance or a motion asking to go to trial. . . . Frye’s repeated motions for dismissal of the capital charge are not an assertion of the right, but are an assertion of the remedy. A motion for dismissal is not evidence that the defendant wants to be tried promptly. . . . Frye’s motions for dismissal do not amount to an assertion of his speedy trial rights.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); see also Miller v. State, 388 S.C. 347, 347, 697 S.E.2d 527, 527 (2010) (“Since there is no right to ‘hybrid representation’ that is partially pro se and partially by counsel, substantive documents, with the exception of motions to relieve counsel, filed pro se by a person represented by counsel are not to be accepted unless submitted by counsel. Because petitioner was represented by counsel, the pro se motion was not proper, should not have been accepted, and should not have been ruled upon. The motion was essentially a nullity.” (citations omitted)).

relevant to a speedy trial analysis, warranted consideration of the remaining factors in Appellant's case. See Waites, 270 S.C. at 108, 240 S.E.2d at 653 (finding a twenty-eight month period of delay sufficient to trigger consideration of the factors relevant to a speedy trial analysis).

Turning to the second of the relevant factors, some portion of the delays involved in Appellant's case was incurred as part of the normal process involved in bringing any criminal case to trial and could not legitimately be held against the State when conducting a speedy trial analysis. See Ratchford, 785 A.2d at 830 (explaining the initial seven-month period of time between the date of the arrest and the case initially being scheduled for trial was "necessary for the orderly administration of justice and is not considered an unreasonable delay that calls for further accounting"); see also State v. Smith, 307 S.C. 376, 380, 415 S.E.2d 409, 411 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding the defendant bears the burden of showing a speedy trial delay was due to the neglect and willfulness of the State's prosecution); cf. State v. Chapman, 289 S.C. 42, 45, 344 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1986) ("A portion of the delay was caused by the normal condition of the docket. . . . The constitutional guarantee of a speedy trial affords protection only against unnecessary or unreasonable delay."). Likewise, because the court docket in Kershaw County had already been completely filled through the end of 2013 by the time the first proper request for a speedy trial was made, some portion of the delays was attributable solely to the lack of available terms of court, which was a circumstance that could not be weighed heavily against the State. Cf. Langford, 400 S.C. at 444, 735 S.E.2d at 483 ("[T]he State moved with reasonable haste given the few General Sessions terms scheduled for Edgefield County during that time."). Beyond that, some portion of the delays involved was attributable to the case being reassigned to different solicitors, which was a period of delays that could only be held slightly against the State

if it could fairly be held against the State at all. See Manix v. State, 895 So. 2d 167, 176 (Miss. 2005) (“The State’s discretion as to which prosecutor will try a particular case is a basic tenet of our criminal justice system. This Court has never held that the State’s replacement of prosecutors amounts to a speedy trial violation warranting a reversal of a criminal conviction. Therefore, this factor is slightly weighed against the State.”). Additionally, the entirety of the delays incurred subsequent to June of 2015 were—as candidly acknowledged by defense counsel—solely attributable to continuances requested by the defense, and, thus, that period of delays certainly could not be held against the State in any manner. See Vermont v. Brillon, 556 U.S. 81, 92-93 (2009) (recognizing delays caused by defense counsel’s continuance requests are attributable to the defendant and not the State when conducting a speedy trial analysis). Furthermore and most significantly, the primary reason Appellant’s case was not brought to trial at an earlier date was—just as Judge Hood expressly found—the defense *chose to wait* until after Miller’s case was resolved in an effort to potentially obtain a more favorable outcome based on cooperation Appellant wished to provide.²² See United States v. Anderson, 902 F.2d 1105, 1110

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